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  Dedicated to the lost torpedo airmen




  





  What would I say to those who claim we were only one step short of the kamikaze? Looking back I’d say they’re absolutely right! To fly a

  Beaufort low through a barrage of thick flak and continue undaunted towards a giant enemy ship took a man with nerves of steel and great courage. Such a man was Arthur Aldridge. He inspired great

  confidence in the capable crews of 217 Squadron as he successfully attacked German and Italian shipping. His bravery was twice recognised when he was awarded the Distinguished Flying Cross and Bar.

  Perhaps an even greater reward in the long run was the knowledge that he’d helped to win the war and therefore enable countless men and women to resume the peaceful way of life he

  cherished.




  

    Bill Carroll (gunner on Aldridge’s crew during World War Two), June 2012


  




  





  Only the names of those who had to come off flying due to the strain and horror of war have been changed. None will receive condemnation or judgement

  here. If the names adopted to protect their identity bear any resemblance to real names of RAF personnel past or present, it is purely coincidental.




  Apart from those name changes, every effort has been made to recount accurately the true story of my experiences and those of my gunner, Bill Carroll, during World War Two.




  As I write this in the summer of 2012, Bill and I are still alive, having enjoyed seventy years more life than we could reasonably have expected.




  

    Arthur Aldridge, summer 2012
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  Prologue




  Thin grey slivers on the horizon, they look so harmless, but I know what they are.




  ‘Look ahead!’




  If the others haven’t spotted them yet, they will now.




  Grey turns to silver in the bright sunlight, and we make out the three enemy ships we’ve been searching for – two merchant vessels and a destroyer. They’re hugging the Tunisian

  coast, just as we thought. They’re out to supply Rommel with arms and precious fuel in order to defeat our army in the desert. We’re going to do everything we can to stop them.




  It’s 21 June, 1942, and I’m flying a Bristol Beaufort – one of nine to have taken off from what‘s left of Malta an hour earlier. Each Beaufort carries a torpedo and we

  know the lethal routine. Pick a ship and fly towards it at fifty feet above the waves. When we think we’re about a thousand yards away, rise to between sixty and eighty feet to drop the

  torpedo. As the ‘torp’ swaps air for sea and swims beneath the surface towards the monster’s hull, get out of there. Sounds simple enough.




  We near the African coast by Cape Bon in perfect visibility, and we know they must be able to see us, too. That means they’re going to be ready. The destroyer

  will do everything it can to protect the merchantmen carrying the war materials. The two vessels, one German and the other Italian, will unleash their own firepower. No time to dwell on such

  things. This is it.




  Squadron Leader Robert Lynn, a big, cheerful Scot from Inverness, is our leader for this strike. We’re in three ‘vics’, a formation each made up of three aircraft, and

  I’m leading the second vic. Lynn waggles his wings to signal that he’s about to attack. Sergeant Bill Carroll, my gunner, has always seen this as a clear and unnecessary invitation to

  the enemy to start shooting. The Axis ships accept the invitation.




  When Lynn’s vic of three planes turns in towards the targets, he’s already facing heavy 37 mm flak. Behind them I’m turning into position, too, ready to spearhead the second

  wave. My focus is broken by Bill Carroll’s yell from the turret at the back.




  ‘Get up, pilot! Aircraft to starboard! Pull up!’




  Instinctively I pull back on the control column and a plane from Lynn’s vic invades our space from nowhere. It’s suddenly changed course and slides under us, through a narrow space

  between my Beaufort’s tail and the waves below. We very nearly collide. It’s all over in an instant. Unbelievable!




  I try to grasp what’s just happened. The Beaufort appeared from somewhere over on the starboard side, so it must have been flown by Sergeant Smyth, who was just behind the port wing-tip of

  Squadron Leader Lynn. So Lynn must have suddenly changed direction for some reason, and Smyth was forced to veer just as violently. Now there’s a domino effect. The other planes in my vic

  lurch as they’re forced to react to my own evasive action.




  There’s mayhem and we haven’t even begun the attack yet. This isn’t going well. While my Beaufort still holds its own in the air, others are in a

  frantic battle to avoid the sea. Squadron Leader Lynn has taken a shell right up through his seat while turning, and he’s been killed instantly. That’s been the catalyst for some of the

  wild flying we’ve already seen. Sergeant ‘Dick’ Dickinson, Lynn’s navigator, is trying to keep their aircraft in the air; but he has to get Lynn’s body out of the way

  before he can work the controls. Squadron Leader Lynn is a well-built fellow and his body won’t be shifted easily. A third crew member tries to help Dickinson, and they’re just starting

  to haul Lynn out of the way when they lose control of the aircraft completely and smack into the drink. An instant before their aircraft hits the sea, the torpedo separates, rebounds off the

  surface, and smashes through the wing of Smyth’s Beaufort, bringing it down as well. The other plane in the vic, piloted by Flying Officer Phillips, is hit by flak and forced into the waves,

  too. That wipes out the leading trio before they can land a single blow on the enemy.




  Now it’s our turn to face the storm. All three ships are firing at us, the destroyer the most deadly. I’m going to aim for the supply ship behind it. The wall of black and grey flak

  is terribly dense, the worst I’ve ever seen. There’s not a word from my crew. As I fly at the wall, I feel something new, a feeling deep in the pit of my stomach, making me queasy.

  It’s fear. And who wouldn’t be scared, faced with this flak? There’s no let-up, it’s truly awful. On we go towards this welcome. I don’t have time to realise these are

  probably the final moments of my life. I feel the horror of it, that’s all. That feeling in the bottom of my stomach is telling me that the next few seconds are not going to be very nice.




  







  1




  From Hammond to Hitler




  I was staggered by their sheer beauty. Not the distant North Downs with their chalky paths, where I’d happily cycled for miles; or the huge Kent skies bathed in late

  summer sunlight. These just formed the backdrop to the drama on the grassy stage in front of us. What had me transfixed were the shots I saw pouring from a bat there; cover drives so effortlessly

  powerful they could only have been the creations of a sporting poet.




  This was the second week of September, 1933 – and the leading performer at Cheriton Road, Folkestone, was an English cricketer called Wally Hammond. A few months earlier, following the

  famous Bodyline Series between England and Australia, Hammond had scored a record 336 not out against the New Zealanders – beating the Australian Donald Bradman’s previous landmark by

  two runs.




  Even before I witnessed his magic, I knew Wally was still in good nick. The English summer season was drawing to a close, but Wally was making hay while the sun shone. A week earlier he’d

  scored 133 against the West Indies. In doing so, he’d passed 3,000 runs for the season and 28,000 in his career in first-class cricket. No wonder another legendary player, the Yorkshire and

  England opener Len Hutton, described Hammond as ‘the most perfect batsman I’ve ever seen’.




  We might have known Wally would repeat that sort of form for The South against the Marylebone Cricket Club (MCC) – that’s what heroes do. Sure enough, I watched mesmerised as Hammond

  amassed 184 runs – a fantastic ton carved so stylishly that I still remembered it more than three-quarters of a century later.




  My mother was sitting there with me at Folkestone and, even though she didn’t know anything about cricket, she was impressed by the way Hammond placed his shots. An MCC fielder would be

  moved to where the last shot had gone, and Hammond would respond by driving his four through the area where the fielder had been only moments earlier!




  We didn’t cheer – one didn’t in those days. But I was a thirteen-year-old in raptures, and I clapped as loudly as I dared. After The South declared on 462–7, a wonderful

  local bowler called ‘Tich’ Freeman took 8–22, skittling out the MCC for 55. I couldn’t have been happier, and I knew I’d seen something special. Strange to think that

  five years earlier I wouldn’t even have known what cricket was, let alone enjoyed it as much as I did that day in Folkestone.




  My life began on 23 August, 1920 – a long time ago, I must admit. Though I’m British and proud of it, I was born in a villa on a picturesque hillside near Florence, Italy. My father,

  Harold, was a clergyman. He’d been a British Army Chaplain during the First World War and was posted to the front on Italy’s border with Austria. The British and Italians had been on

  the same side back then, before the rise of the dreadful dictator, Benito Mussolini. My father had stayed in Italy after the war, allowing him to maintain some of his family ties. One of his

  Christian names was Gualtiero – Italian for Walter. His mother was half-Italian, which makes me an eighth Italian. I always tell my Italian friends that it’s my

  best eighth – ‘Il mio ottavo migliore.’ I was named Arthur after a great-uncle and Harold after my father. My mother Melita was British, yet her name means

  ‘Malta’. She was from a naval family and, though I never asked her, I think she must have been born on the island of Malta to be given that name.




  I was an only child, which may have made me a little more self-contained than other children but I wasn’t lonely because that first spacious home, the Villa Bruno in the village of Girone,

  always seemed to be full of relatives – and I even spoke Italian with them. The Villa Bruno overlooked a sweeping bend in the River Arno, and I was lucky to spend my early childhood in such a

  beautiful place. While my first five years were spent there, the next four were passed in the clean, cool air of the French part of Switzerland. We moved to ease the lung trouble my father had

  developed and it seemed to work. I have memories of beautifully clear Swiss lakes and a new language to learn. French came quite easily to me; when you’re very young it isn’t hard to

  pick up a language. One of my biggest passions from that time on was languages – I love speaking different languages and learning all about them.




  When we moved to England, I was nine and I picked up a smattering of this third language, and somehow I retained that smattering for the rest of my days! In reality, of course, I’d long

  been familiar with English, my parents’ language, and I was overwhelmingly English by blood. It was just the country I didn’t know too well. All that changed when my father was asked to

  become the vicar of West Malling, a pretty village in his home county of Kent, south-eastern England.




  Some people said the First World War had been won on the playing fields of Eton. I don’t know about the Second World War, but sport certainly played a big part in

  my life and in the lives of many RAF pilots as they were growing up. When I came to England and was enrolled at St Lawrence College in Ramsgate, there were plenty of new sports to come to terms

  with.




  St Lawrence was actually one of the best-known schools in the country for hockey – not that I was any good at it. I preferred rugger, which my father also liked. We were more like pals

  than father and son. My father was one of the nicest people I’ve ever met, and we certainly shared a love for sport. During a holiday to the Scilly Isles, for example, we ran all the way back

  from the bakers flinging a loaf of bread to each other like a rugby ball.




  Cricket became king, though. If only I’d had as much talent as I had love for cricket, I might have played for England; but I wasn’t much good. One of my best cricketing achievements

  was to score an unbeaten 11 runs. It doesn’t sound much, but my job was to stay in and support the batsman at the other end, so that he didn’t run out of partners. He was our star

  – he made over 50. I just blocked everything and held on. You could say that was an early example of the stubborn fighting spirit I’d need later – or cite that innings as further

  evidence of my limitations exposed!




  During the 1930s, if the Ashes were being played in Australia, my father and I would rush down early in the morning together, turn on the wireless and listen for the latest developments on the

  other side of the world. We’d hear the voice of Alan Kippax, the Australian opening batsman who was dropped after the First Test of the controversial Bodyline Series of 1932–33.




  ‘He’s too bloody fast for me,’ Kippax was reported to have said, having been unnerved by some rib-denting deliveries from the famous Nottinghamshire pace bowler, Harold

  Larwood. Kippax became pretty good on the wireless, though – and he didn’t swear once. ‘I’m afraid I’ve got bad news for you in

  England,’ he’d say with thinly disguised satisfaction if our batting had collapsed and it looked as though Australia were winning. I don’t know why I remember that in particular,

  because it was England who won that Bodyline Series, not Australia – much to the fury of those who thought our bowlers were taking more pleasure in hurting the Australians than knocking down

  their wickets.




  Wally Hammond, who’d played his part in the victory Down Under, wasn’t the only legend I was lucky enough to observe in person. At the Folkestone Festival the following year, I saw

  the most famous Australian of them all, Donald Bradman. My father and I watched him make a century for the tourists against an England XI. It was nearly perfect, because almost every shot was

  struck low through the outfield. The only exception before he reached three figures was a six he dispatched from the bowling of my hero, Hammond; and that was a rare example of Bradman breaking his

  own rule: ‘If you don’t hit the ball in the air, you can’t get caught,’ he always said. Nowadays a lot of batsmen try to hit the ball over the top from the start but Bradman

  usually waited until he’d carved out a century with controlled mastery, and only then would he cut loose. Tich Freeman came on to bowl at the wrong time in Folkestone that day. A leg-spinner,

  Freeman wasn’t short of quality. He’d taken 304 wickets in a single season back in 1928 – a feat never equalled before or since – and he still made a habit of taking more

  than 200 wickets each summer. As he began his over, just a few moments after Bradman had made his ton, it became clear the batsman had no respect for these statistics. Bradman went half-way down

  the wicket and began to hit Freeman’s considered deliveries with such disdain, so hard and so far, that neither my father nor I thought he could possibly keep it up.

  To our astonishment, he did – 4, 6, 6, 4, 6, 4. We’d never seen anyone score 30 runs in an over before, and Bradman had certainly never done this in England. He finished on 149 not out

  – quite a performance.




  Even though the clinical Bradman was immaculate, I still preferred Hammond. His batting was even more stylish, especially his wonderful off-drives. He was famous for them, steering the ball away

  so nonchalantly off the front foot. He could bowl if it took his fancy, too, and he was such a brilliant slip fielder that people used to say if a bird flew past, he’d be fast enough to grab

  it with one hand. If I had two boyhood heroes, Hammond was definitely one of them. The other was Beethoven.




  I thought Beethoven was the greatest man who ever lived – still do. A combination of colossal genius and good character defines the greatest man, at least in my view. He was undoubtedly a

  genius and, although his character was a little rough round the edges, his letters show that he gave his money to others, even when he was living in poverty himself. I believe this puts him above

  any other genius you might care to think of.




  The unmistakeable sound of a Mozart piano concerto flowing out of our wireless in West Malling made me fall in love with classical music as a teenager. And, before long, I adored Beethoven,

  Mozart and Schubert – in that order. It didn’t take me long to come to the conclusion that there are no great British composers, so my musical tastes were less than patriotic. And it

  was worse than that – Beethoven was German and Mozart was Austrian, just like Hitler, the new German leader. Oh dear! The Bosch, the Hun, the awful Germans! They’d committed the most

  appalling atrocities in Belgium during the First World War, gassing innocent civilians, and that generation weren’t even Nazis, the type of Germans who’d begun to cause concern

  around Europe more recently. It must be the German character, we decided; deep down they just couldn’t be very nice people. And yet their country and neighbouring

  Austria had produced such wonderful composers.




  This was confusing to a boy in his late teens, so I was glad to be given the chance to experience Germans and Germany for myself. Perhaps that way I could make sense of it all. My love for

  languages took me on an exchange trip in 1938. I was going to stay with a couple in Frankfurt, while their son would stay with my parents in Kent. But as my train crossed over into Germany, I

  suddenly got a terrible feeling of claustrophobia. The railway platforms were filled with Nazis in uniform. You could see swastikas everywhere. The atmosphere was suffocating, restrictive. It felt

  like walking into a sort of prison; it was painful. This was the complete opposite of the feeling my favourite composers gave me – they made my spirit soar. It was just as well they

  weren’t trying to compose in the 1930s. How could any artistic individual thrive anywhere near Nazi Germany? These Nazis were not the sort of people who’d created my beloved German and

  Austrian music. They were up to something far more sinister; so unimaginable, as it turned out, that even those most threatened would struggle to grasp what was starting to happen.




  ‘Take a look at this,’ said Herr Kűlenthal, my genial host in Frankfurt. He showed me a letter he’d received, signed by Hitler. Herr Kűlenthal had

  retired by now, but he’d been a Rear Admiral in the First World War, so Hitler had written: ‘Because of your service in the war, you will be safe. But I cannot vouch for your wife or

  give her any similar guarantee.’




  Herr and Frau Kűlenthal, you see, were Jewish. The letter seemed ridiculous to me. This man had served Germany in the Great War, just as Hitler had done. And now

  his reward was to have his wife threatened because they were Jewish? What on earth did Hitler have in mind for the Jews, anyway? It was hard to fathom.




  Even after receiving that letter, the Kűlenthals still couldn’t believe it was Hitler himself who felt that way. They were convinced his cronies must have been behind it all. As we

  know now, Hitler hated the Jews more than anyone else but, when you were there, it all seemed too extraordinary to be true.




  As for me, I just felt a mounting discomfort; and I was fast coming to the conclusion that Germans were people to avoid. Of course I liked the Kűlenthals; they didn’t seem to fit into

  any of this. Perhaps that was why they were in such danger. Whatever Herr Kűlenthal thought was coming, he wasn’t taking any chances. Whenever we had any conversations about Hitler,

  he’d take the phone off the hook, as if someone might be listening through the phone when the receiver was down, and somehow overhear our conversation. It seemed rather a desperate measure,

  bordering on paranoia but, as that old saying goes, just because someone is acting paranoid doesn’t mean people aren’t out to get them.




  They took me into the Hauptfriedhof, the city’s main cemetery, so we could walk among its beautiful flowers and trees. Looking back, the irony becomes obvious, for such places would swell

  with fresh bodies before long. But Herr Kűlenthal was a man who appreciated the natural beauty of his surroundings and he took me out for even longer walks in the Taunus Mountains above

  Frankfurt. One good thing about the Germans, they like trees and they preserve their forests. And when we got back from our walks, Frau Kűlenthal would be waiting to

  welcome us. I had a wonderful time with this charming couple, who didn’t deserve to be threatened or unsettled by their fellow countrymen.




  Yet you couldn’t stay in Germany even for a few weeks without becoming caught up in the rising tension. We had to go to a parade in honour of a local Nazi while I was there; we had no

  choice. During the parade, everyone had to give the Hitler salute, stretching their right arm out straight, their hand flat, their fingers stiff and pointing diagonally upwards. Even I gave the

  salute. I didn’t want to. I’d have liked to refuse on principle, based on what I’d seen and heard about the Nazis so far. In fact, I was going to refuse, but then something inside

  told me that I had to do it, like it or not. I had two German Jews with me, after all, and it would have been irresponsible not to salute. I couldn’t risk bringing unwanted attention to my

  hosts on a selfish point of principle. Some snitch could have spotted my refusal and told any number of Nazi party members mingling with the crowd. So I gave the Nazi salute, and I don’t

  regret it as such but I remembered how wrong it felt to be forced to behave in a way I didn’t want to behave.




  It wasn’t just the Jews and various Germany minority groups who were starting to feel intimidated, though. This National Socialist movement didn’t seem to want to confine itself to

  the borders of its own country. It was 1938 and the writing was on the wall. Could the rest of Europe do anything about the Nazis? The aggressive nature of Germany’s foreign policy meant the

  major European powers couldn’t ignore the situation any longer. My parents were worried stiff because they knew I was in Germany, and a high-level conference was about to be held in Munich.

  No one seemed too sure what position Britain would take, or how Hitler might react if he didn’t like it. As it was, there was no need for my parents to worry for the

  moment. No one was going to stand up to Hitler, and this would later cause misery for millions, the British among them.




  In 1938, Europe’s major players felt Hitler had to be appeased. If the Nazis weren’t handled very carefully, some warned, the consequences could be catastrophic. So the Munich

  Agreement, signed on the night of 29 September, allowed Hitler to annex the Sudetenland. This was an important strip of land which had belonged to Czechoslovakia and contained many of that

  country’s strategic defences. Czechoslovakia wasn’t going to sign away the Sudetenland, but the major powers simply ignored their rights and signed the Munich Agreement anyway. Germany,

  Italy, Britain and France were all there, sitting around a table and smiling at each other – but crucially the Czechs weren’t. With some justification, they called it the Munich

  Dictat.




  Neville Chamberlain returned to England triumphant, waving a piece of paper and announcing that he had secured ‘peace in our time’. Anthony Eden had already resigned in protest at

  Chamberlain’s policy of appeasement. Almost a year after the Munich Agreement, on 1 September, 1939, Hitler made a mockery of that scrap of paper and invaded Poland. A couple of days later,

  back in West Malling, I told my father and mother that I wasn’t going to church with them because an important announcement was expected on the wireless. I stayed at home and listened,

  fearing the worst. Sure enough, it fell to Chamberlain to tell the British people he’d received no undertaking from Herr Hitler to withdraw from Poland. Therefore we were at war with Germany.

  What a fool he must have felt!




  What was this going to mean for my own future? I couldn’t help but wonder what on earth would happen to my good friends the Kűlenthals in Germany, too. Would Herr Kűlenthal

  die trying to save his wife? Would they get out or find a way to survive inside Germany? It would be seven years before I found out.




  In the meantime, despite all the difficulties, the trip to Germany had done nothing to dampen my passion for foreign languages, and I’d performed well enough in my school exams to win a

  place at Oxford University to study French and German. I went up in October 1939 and settled into my college, St Edmund Hall – ‘Teddy Hall’ as we called it.




  Teddy Hall had one of the oldest foundations in Oxford, a small college with a beautiful inner quad, full of very friendly people and wonderful staff. You could punt on the river if you wanted a

  change of scenery, a pastime which brought me perfect peace. I liked to ease my way out on to the River Cherwell alone. You could take a punt from Magdalene Bridge and glide silently down narrow,

  tree-lined tributaries, which were sometimes little more than streams draped in the lazy branches of weeping willows. Then you could make your way out on to the wider waterway to enjoy the sun and

  splendour of it all. And I loved reading all the French and German literature for my course, too. I remember picking up a copy of Molière’s Le Bourgeois Gentilhomme, and just

  laughing out loud. ‘Wow, this is real comedy, not like the so-called comedies of Shakespeare,’ I thought. I was roaring my head off – until I realised I was supposed to be

  studying quietly in the reading room. Let’s face it, Shakespeare’s comedies are not very funny at all, apart from Twelfth Night. But Molière? I loved him.




  What I most enjoyed was just being at Oxford University, surrounded by some of the most interesting and intelligent people in the world, finding my feet away from my parents. I’d just

  turned nineteen, I was happy, and everything would have been perfect – had Britain not gone to war with Germany. We all knew deep down there’d be dark times

  ahead. At Oxford we ‘freshers’ enjoyed the place while we could, but monitored events in the wider world to see how they would unfold.




  What Britain needed was strong leadership, and we were lucky. We had a wonderful king on the throne by then. King George VI didn’t want to be king. The awful Edward VIII, who was a Nazi

  sympathiser, let his country down in order to stay with his lover Mrs Simpson, who was also a Nazi sympathiser. They were absolute traitors who cared only about themselves. He was a dead loss even

  before he abdicated, and she was dreadful. Pro-Nazi, the pair of them, can you imagine?




  So George VI had ascended to the throne and won everyone’s respect with a wonderful speech that Christmas of 1939, calling on the nation to find strength and have faith at such a testing

  time. The most memorable line was, ‘Put your hand into the hand of God.’ It was inspirational, even to someone like me, who wasn’t religious. I realised I’d be prepared to

  die for George VI; ‘For King and Country’, as we used to say. I wouldn’t have died for the other one. If Edward VIII had been on the throne, I’d have fought for country, but

  not for king. George VI, on the other hand, made it feel good to be British. So I decided that, sooner or later, I would indeed fight.




  We were very lucky to have Winston Churchill, too. He was an incredible inspiration to me. He knew Hitler had to be put in his place, and I totally shared his belief that it was about time

  someone did something about the ‘Nazzzis’, as Churchill called them, using a soft ‘Z’. He didn’t pronounce the word like everyone else – ‘Natzi’.

  Churchill’s ‘Nazzzi’ was so much more disdainful. He didn’t want to pronounce correctly the name that Hitler’s band of thugs had adopted, because he knew Hitler

  didn’t deserve that kind of respect. So Churchill made me want to fight the Nazzzis, too.




  I suppose I could have been a spy, with my knowledge of languages, but I didn’t think of that. I certainly could have continued with my studies, because there was no pressure on me to

  volunteer to fight. It was the first week of May, and I hadn’t yet completed my first year. Earlier in that spring of 1940 the Germans had invaded Denmark and Norway; and now our neighbours

  France were about to be overrun. If we didn’t do something, Britain would be next to fall; there was no time to waste.




  I knew what I had to do and I didn’t feel any need to talk it through with my parents. Everything suddenly seemed clear, my mind was made up. It wasn’t a difficult decision, except

  that I ran into some unexpected resistance from the university. The Principal of St Edmund Hall wasn’t too pleased when he heard about my plan to volunteer for war. His name was Alfred

  Brotherston Emden, and his initials formed his nickname – The ABE. He didn’t approve of my timing.




  ‘I’m joining the RAF,’ I confirmed, when ushered into his spacious office, surrounded by books.




  ‘You should finish your course,’ he told me, a little irritated.




  ‘I’ll try to finish it afterwards,’ I insisted gently.




  The ABE seemed appalled because I hadn’t even finished my first year. But I wasn’t going to sit there and complete a course while the war raged. Deep down The ABE probably

  understood, because I later heard he’d seen service as an Able Seaman in the First World War. He even ended up becoming head of Oxford University’s Naval Division during this war.

  Perhaps he’d been trying to protect my best interests; but it wasn’t going to work.




  On 7 May, I went to the local recruiting office in Oxford. No way was I ever going to join the army, not after all the square-bashing they’d made me do in the

  Combined Cadet Force at St Lawrence College – those dreaded marching drills on the parade ground. Of course, drills were part of early life in other branches of the services, too, as

  I’d find out, but I’d always associated endless drills with the army, and wanted to avoid them if I could.




  Unfortunately I had to tell a whopping great lie in that Oxford recruiting office, because I’d failed to anticipate the most obvious question imaginable.




  ‘Why do you want to join the RAF?’




  ‘Why, sir?’




  ‘Yes. Why?’




  Damn. Why hadn’t I thought about ‘why’? It was such an obvious question! I couldn’t admit that I had no good reason.




  ‘I’ve always wanted to fly aeroplanes.’




  Where did that come from? This was the first time I’d ever thought about flying aeroplanes – the first time it had ever crossed my mind! In fact, just as I’d gone in, I’d

  seen the navy recruitment officer out of the corner of my eye and wondered whether that might be a very good alternative to the RAF. I’d only thought better of it because I knew I’d

  probably be sea-sick. And suddenly here I am, telling this RAF officer it’s been a lifelong ambition to be part of his gang!




  Anyhow, I’m slightly ashamed to admit it, but this policy of dishonesty worked, because they agreed to have me. I was nineteen years and eight months old. And I agreed to be paid a sum of

  two shillings per day to be an aircraftsman. There was one problem: this was all subject to passing a medical and I thought I might be colour-blind.




  I went straight down to Uxbridge for the medical, secretly rather worried. My father was colour-blind, and I was afraid it might be hereditary. That would have ended

  any hope of becoming a pilot. It felt like they were on to me straight away. They gave me a sheet with all sorts of colours, and there was a figure or letter within all that. If you couldn’t

  see the figure, you were colour-blind. But I could see it, thank God – and that meant I wasn’t! Much to my relief, I was able to continue with the process of joining the RAF . . .

  except that there was no more process for the time being; that was it.




  Having volunteered and enlisted in early May, I thought I would be called straight up. In fact, I wasn’t called up until 1 July – an extraordinary delay given the urgency of

  Britain’s situation. Of course, it was perfect timing from The ABE’s point of view, because I was able to go back to Oxford and finish my first year of studies. It was pretty convenient

  from my point of view, too. If by any chance I survived the entire war, I could come back and finish my degree by starting my second year a little late – as long as Oxford wasn’t being

  run by the Nazzzis.




  I was determined to see that it wasn’t. By then, though, the war was taking a serious turn. British forces had to be rescued from the beaches of Dunkirk, leaving many comrades, weapons and

  supplies stranded in France. There was a real threat of invasion, though Churchill wasn’t going to stand for that. I remember the speech he made on 4 June, 1940:




  

    

      We shall fight in France, we shall fight in the seas and the oceans, we shall fight with growing confidence and strength in the air; we shall defend our island whatever the

      cost may be. We shall fight on the beaches, we shall fight on the landing grounds, we shall fight in the fields and in the streets, we shall fight in the hills; we shall never surrender.


    


  




  A total inspiration. Fantastic. That speech of his made quite an impact on me.




  My university year finished in mid-June, so I went home to West Malling, scanning the skies for the dogfights above Kent as the Luftwaffe tried to establish aerial superiority. That’s when

  I finally told my parents I’d joined up. They took in the news without protest or anger. They could see what was happening in the skies above them as well as anyone else. They understood this

  was no time for faint hearts. In fact, my father looked quietly pleased when he heard what I’d done.




  ‘If only I can get in the RAF before a bomb drops on me,’ I told my mother to lighten the mood. In truth, Churchill had put so much fire in my belly that I was prepared to go out on

  the road from the coast up to Maidstone, and stop the German tanks with my bare hands, if I had to. Teenage testosterone plus Churchill; that was quite a combination!




  It might have taken bare hands, too, after all that equipment was left in Dunkirk. It was horrendous, but also amazing how many little ships rallied, and unbelievable how many soldiers were

  taken off the beaches and back to safety – including the French, of course. There was no doubt we were going to be up against it, though. And before I was called up, I remember receiving some

  extra attention from the local tennis crowd at a party they threw. The get-together wasn’t in my honour; we were always having tennis parties at West Malling. But they seemed to realise that,

  by joining the RAF, I’d done something which meant my life would be on the line sooner or later. Not that anyone dwelt on such matters or even put these thoughts into words. We were young and

  we just wanted to have a good time. These parties were always fun and tennis was a sport I was good at, so I was in demand. But I always made sure I had the same partner,

  a very nice girl called Sally Gray. I had a very good forehand but my backhand was pathetic by comparison. So, as a right-hander, I made sure Sally was on my left during rallies, and that way she

  could take my backhands for me, on her forehand. We struck up an excellent understanding, though I never felt romantic towards her. My mother seemed keener on my behalf than I was myself. In fact,

  I think she wanted me to marry Sally. I was fond of her, she was a very nice girl, but this wasn’t the right moment to start a relationship. The war was on, and even Sally joined the WAAF in

  the end.




  I went from Uxbridge to Torquay on 1 July, 1940, where I joined Reserve Number 54 Group. The Sergeant Major in Torquay was a bit of a tyrant and he made us do plenty of square-bashing. He would

  treat us like scum if we got it wrong; and every so often he’d march up and down the line, staring us in the face. If he caught us looking back, he’d bark at the top of his voice:

  ‘Don’t look at me – I’m shy!’ Though I’d been put off the idea of joining the army precisely because I anticipated such ritual humiliation, I actually enjoyed

  the drills – especially the slow-marching. It was rather fun having to stop the swing of your leg as it passed your standing leg, then let it continue again. Still, I wasn’t sorry when

  the square-bashing was over.




  Oddly our next stop was Cambridge University. I was billeted at Trinity Hall. ‘How strange,’ I thought. ‘I’ve given up my course at Oxford to fight a war, and all

  I’ve done is go straight from Oxford to Cambridge.’ Having taken a look round, I came to a swift conclusion: ‘This university’s old – I’ll give it that much but

  it isn’t a patch on Oxford.’ The ABE would probably have liked that. But I didn’t like being stuck in Cambridge as the Battle of Britain raged in the skies above my Kent home that

  July.




  The initiation course in Cambridge was long and totally unnecessary. We had to study the history of the RAF and all that sort of nonsense. It was only twenty-two years

  old, so the history lesson should have been short. It wasn’t. ‘The Royal Air Force was founded on the first of April, 1918, when it was decided to merge the Royal Naval Air Service and

  the Royal Flying Corps . . .’ That should have been the end of the lesson, shouldn’t it?




  Why did they think we’d be enthralled by irrelevant tales of how the RAF was structured between the two wars? It was a complete waste of time. All we wanted to do was get up in the sky to

  defend Britain against Hitler. Yet I don’t even remember studying much about the theory of flying. We may have been told what gives lift to an aircraft – how the leading edge of each

  wing is rounded, the wing itself convex on top but flat underneath. The air passing over the rounded part will go faster than the air going underneath, which gives lift to the wings because there

  is less pressure above them than below. All very well, but we still didn’t seem any closer to getting into the air ourselves.




  The class did a lot of talking down on the banks of the River Cam. It was a pleasant enough way to spend the second half of a summer, but it delayed us getting on to a squadron. Even seventy

  years later, I still can’t understand why they weren’t in more of a hurry to teach us what we needed to fight the Germans. The Battle of Britain entered a make-or-break phase in late

  summer, 1940. What was I doing, while the fate of Britain hung in the balance? Nothing very useful.




  Then something happened to shift that balance. When we bombed Berlin towards the end of August, I always thought we did so in order to impress the Americans. In fact, it had a much greater

  psychological effect on Hitler, because the Luftwaffe retaliated by turning their attention to London. In doing so, Commander-in-Chief Hermann Göring made a big

  mistake, because he eased up on Fighter Command and its air bases. That change in tactics came as a considerable relief to Fighter Command, since its pilots were on the point of complete

  exhaustion. So Göring unwittingly gave Fighter Command enough time to recover and rebuild – an error which eventually saved Britain.




  I never did get the chance to become part of Fighter Command’s regeneration, or fly a Spitfire. It was the one great regret of my life. The Spitfire was the most beautiful functional

  object ever created by humankind. I could look at a Spitfire for hours in silent admiration; it was such a sublime aircraft. How I’d have loved to fly one! We trainees all wanted to be

  fighter pilots. We didn’t care about the dangers; or at least not enough to want to do something else. At the time, our common desire to fly a Spitfire was colossal, even if we invited death

  by fulfilling our ambition.




  The life expectancy of fighter pilots at the height of the Battle of Britain was about two weeks. That’s why fighter pilots were allowed to keep their top button undone, we heard. It was a

  concession from the authorities, a little perk, perhaps even a thank you, in return for facing probable death. A small reward, you might say, but it was something.




  In September 1940, as the Battle of Britain reached its climax, I was sent to Watchfield Flying Training School on Oxfordshire’s border with Wiltshire. It was a step in the right

  direction. The Battle of Britain may have been over before I learned to fly, but there would be other terrible moments to endure.




  







  2




  Mr Average and Mark Lee




  The shouting. That’s what I remember most about learning to fly – being shouted at. Constantly. About anything and everything.




  ‘Turn! To starboard, man! Top rudder! I said top rudder! Keep the nose up! You’re losing altitude! Haven’t you even noticed! Right, do me a spin. Easy on the stick! What are

  you doing? Did I say control column forward? Why have you applied rudder?! Well now you’ve done it, level out! You came out of that spin too early! Why? What’s the matter with you,

  man!’




  It wasn’t just me. Our instructor, Flying Officer Holland, shouted at everyone, apparently. But that didn’t make it any easier to take.




  Watchfield wasn’t an enormous air base. Most of the recruits were about my age, nineteen or twenty. No one I knew on the course was married, and that was probably just as well. It had to

  be easier without a wife and children to worry about. If you had a family, you’d want to get the hell out of the place. Even if you were unmarried but a bit older, it might make you think

  twice – the first chap I shared a room with was twenty-eight or thirty and he didn’t like flying very much.




  I flew Avro Cadets during my initial training; they are biplanes, rather like a Tiger Moth. When my first instructor, Flying Officer Wilson, took me up in the air I

  felt confident enough, mainly because he was doing the flying. I was there to gain familiarity with the cockpit lay-out and get some air experience. ‘Just take it all in, Aldridge.’

  Then it was on to Flight Lieutenant Abbot to see the effect of controls: ‘See how it works, Aldridge? Joystick gently forward to descend, back again to climb; now you have a go.’

  Blimey, they’re letting me fly a plane! The basic manoeuvres seemed logical enough: minor adjustments, maintain straight and level flight.




  Then came climbing, gliding and stalling. That’s where the logic seemed to fly out of the window. I had to climb to a safe height and then deliberately stall. A lot of people think this

  involves doing something to make the engine cut out, but that’s not it. The expression refers to a loss of lift from the wings, which can happen whatever the engine is doing. What you do is

  throttle back on the engine, allowing the speed to drop to a point where the wings stall and you start plummeting from very high up in the air – that creates a nervous moment or two. You

  recover by lowering the nose and increasing engine power. When you manage that, relief pours over you. Still alive, we progressed to medium level turns. This was becoming fun. And then I got

  Holland.




  He taught more medium turns, but this time it was accompanied by his shouting; then on to taking off into wind and landing. Soon we came to spinning. At first, after about the third spin, I

  panicked and got out early. Holland was apoplectic with rage. Then I became a little braver. Spin to the left, spin to the right – I loved the spinning. To get out of a spin you put your

  stick forward first, then you apply rudder. What fun! But there was something I liked even more – side-slipping. Bank to starboard, apply top rudder. Down we go

  diagonally! You lose height without gaining any speed. That feels wonderful.




  In spite of the incessant shouting from Holland, I learned to do these things in my Avro Cadet, and even enjoyed what I was doing. That’s what made me think I might become good at flying.

  If you’re not good at it, you don’t enjoy it, but I was really enjoying it. More spinning followed, and steep turns. I also had to do a thing called rate-four turns, using plenty of top

  rudder. If you do a very steep turn you tend to lose height, unless you’ve got lots of top rudder to keep your nose up. I did loops, which were fun. I didn’t feel a thrill as such; I

  don’t like that word, because it’s a cheap word and suggests wild emotion – the last thing you need when you’re training. What I felt was satisfaction – pleasure and

  satisfaction. It was the sense of being able to handle a machine; the delight of working well with it. Did I feel at one with the aircraft? Of course not. I’m a human being and it’s a

  machine. Forget the clichés.




  I didn’t have any difficulties, except with Holland. He shouted and shouted, then he shouted some more. It didn’t help me learn to fly, I can assure you. But you couldn’t tell

  him to stop. I couldn’t have talked to an officer like that, so I just took it. If I said anything in reply to his barking, I still called him ‘sir’. With Holland I also learned a

  gliding approach – also called ‘dead stick’ – when you make an approach with no engines running and land that way. I’d done about eight hours flying when it was time

  to go solo.




  That first time flying solo in my Avro Cadet, I wasn’t nervous at all. I thought: ‘Thank God, I’ve got a bit of peace. I’m on my own.’ I was so thankful not to have

  Holland hollering in my ear that I had a lovely time. In fact, the feeling of flying through the sky on my own was one of the most wonderful sensations of my entire life.

  It was a pleasure to be able to fly properly, to be in sole control of the aircraft and do what you wanted to do. I felt the rare satisfaction of it all, and savoured the relief of not being

  shouted at.




  Just because you go solo doesn’t mean you never take any more instruction, though. So I had to brace myself for more of Holland’s wrath. But something very strange happened: once

  I’d gone solo, he stopped shouting. We did further cross-country flights together and acrobatics, and still he didn’t shout. In fact, he never shouted at me again. It was tempting to

  ask him why he’d shouted so much in the first place, but I never did. He’d stopped and that’s all that mattered. Perhaps he thought a pilot had earned his basic respect once

  he’d gone solo, I don’t know. We were great pals after that and, when it came to map reading, he taught me a simple but very important lesson. You read from the map to the ground. You

  don’t look at the ground and find things and then look at the map; you follow it on the map and then look at the ground to see if you can recognise anything. That’s the secret.




  The Battle of Britain was effectively won on 15 September, when at least fifty German aircraft were shot down. That was the crucial day. Churchill had made another famous

  speech, his tribute to the RAF. ‘Never has so much been owed by so many to so few.’ And thanks to the Spitfire and Hurricane pilots, I was able to continue to learn to fly. At about

  this time I was moved to RAF College Cranwell in Lincolnshire, and I soon realised how lucky I was to be there.




  During initial training, there’d been times when we were treated like the lowest of the low. When we reached Cranwell, however, a chap asked me: ‘May I

  carry your bag, sir?’ I couldn’t believe it! Cranwell was big, the top place for training, the best FTS (Flying Training School) there was and we were treated as potential officers,

  rather like the army cadets who go to Sandhurst. We had a white flash in the peak of our caps, to show that we were officer cadets, and we were treated with respect.




  Some of the people I’d trained with initially didn’t end up at Cranwell, and they were less fortunate. Officer cadets weren’t treated with the same respect at other training

  stations, such as Shawbury, for example. If you weren’t careful, you’d find yourself belittled as we were by that ‘shy’ sergeant major on the parade ground in Torquay.

  Fortunately, Cranwell was different; we were treated like ordinary regulars, training to be pilots – and the food was excellent, too!




  Up in the air there were new challenges. Whereas I’d flown biplanes previously, I was now taught how to fly two-engine monoplanes, such as Airspeed Oxfords. I didn’t find converting

  a problem, the principles were the same. I loved flying and that was enough for me. When I was back on the ground I looked forward to the next flight. I didn’t feel the need to go out to the

  local pubs and socialise in any big way; I just stayed on the airfield. I wasn’t the only one who liked a quieter life. A fellow cadet called Mark Lee also seemed more self-contained than the

  rest. He loved poetry and he had a marvellous collection of classical music – not that he could take it all to Cranwell. Given my own love for literature and classical music, I suppose we

  were bound to get on. When we weren’t flying, we would talk about what works of art had captured our imaginations most.




  Mark had his own preferences of course, but he could understand my passion for Beethoven. The more we got to know each other, the more I liked him. I felt relaxed in his company, you

  didn’t have to try to impress him; and, like me, he didn’t feel the need to be too boisterous. The others probably thought we were a bit quiet, but we

  understood each other just fine. We liked our own company and when it suited us we liked each other’s company, too. That’s not to say we didn’t mix with the others at the

  appropriate times. Mark was the sort of person who didn’t have an enemy in the world – except the Nazis. People liked him and he made friends effortlessly. In fact, someone later said

  of him that he couldn’t help making friends wherever he went, which was a nice way to sum him up.




  Mark had been a wonderful cricketer at school in Leicestershire, and an even better hockey player at Cambridge University. He didn’t go around boasting about it, though. In fact, I

  didn’t even know until much later, because that’s how modest he was. Had Mark wanted to be boastful, he could have pointed to Bryanston, his public school, where he was the first boy to

  get his colours for cricket, hockey, rugger and athletics. Then he’d won a place to read English at Cambridge University, and was tipped for a Hockey Blue before his student days were

  interrupted by war.




  As had happened in my case, Mark felt that his country needed him more than his university. The RAF beckoned and Cambridge could wait. There were more important things than studies and sport

  – such as defending the freedom of loved ones, and the way of life we held so dear. We had a bit in common, he and I; and, if necessary, we were ready to sacrifice everything to make sure the

  right side won the war.




  To fight Hitler we had to learn to fly, and now we were well on our way. In fact, I felt the flying course couldn’t have been going better – until the day I got a red endorsement in

  my logbook. I suppose it was deserved, though even seventy years later it still annoys me! I thought I’d done all the necessary pre-flight checks on 12 October,

  1940. I’d made sure the Pitot head cover was off, so that we’d be able to measure air speed once we were in the air; I’d checked the controls were working; and I assumed the

  ground crew had checked everything else worth checking. That was my mistake.




  When I took off, I had a co-pupil with me as well as the instructor. If my co-pupil had been flying the plane, he’d have been the one to receive the red endorsement in his log-book. But he

  wasn’t, so the checks were my responsibility. Frost had been left on the leading edges of the wings; the ground crew hadn’t remembered to wipe it away, and because we felt dependent on

  them in so many ways, I’d just assumed they’d be thorough in this area, too. They weren’t – proving that we all make mistakes; but the presence of that frost meant the

  air-flow over the wings was broken and we didn’t have the necessary lift when we took off. Within a few seconds we stalled, and the plane plonked itself back on to the airfield with a thud.

  None of us was injured by the heavy, unexpected landing; but I was to blame. It had never occurred to me to check the wings for frost because the ground crew should have done it for me; but it was

  the last time I didn’t double-check. The buck stopped with me and next time we might not be so lucky.




  Luckily the price paid for learning that lesson wasn’t as great as it might have been; and we all lived to fight another day. But seventy years later the incriminating evidence is still in

  my logbook, written almost unintelligibly in bright red ink. The instructor who made the damning entry was Group Captain Lilihead, or at least that’s what I think he was called. I can’t

  quite read the signature in my log-book, because his writing was shoddier than my flying. You can just about make out his censorious, spidery scrawl, though:




  ‘Carelessness in failing to comply with instructions in flight order book regarding hoar frost.’




  (They’d given us a book so that we could read up on all the instructions in our own time. I’d read it six months earlier, so long before I’d forgotten most of the

  contents.)




  ‘Needs to exercise more care in airmanship on the ground.’




  In that same month of October, Cranwell described my proficiency as a pilot as ‘average’. Most people were rated as average; it was the standard assessment. Yet I felt I was actually

  above average, so it was frustrating that I’d suffered this little set-back, partly due to bad luck. I had to take it on the chin, but I was still determined to see ‘above

  average’ written in that log-book one day.




  It wasn’t going to happen any time soon, though, because my high opinion of my flying took another knock quite quickly. This time I got lost, which wasn’t as hard to do as you might

  think. There were two airfields at Cranwell, separated by a lot of buildings. On one notorious occasion a pilot took off from one Cranwell airfield, landed at the other, and asked where he was

  – not realising he was still at Cranwell! I didn’t quite suffer that degree of humiliation, though what happened to me was embarrassing enough.




  We were in a nearby, subsidiary airfield, which was only used for night flying. We did some of that and stayed overnight; and then in the morning my instructor pointed to our Airspeed Oxford and

  said, ‘Take her back to Cranwell on your own – it’s only over there.’ I took off alone, flew back towards Cranwell as instructed . . . and completely missed the place. There

  was dense fog; it was one of those days when you could see something directly below you, but nothing in front, behind, or on either side. I certainly couldn’t see Cranwell, and I got

  completely lost as I went round and round in the hope of stumbling upon our base. In those conditions, I could have been about a hundred yards from Cranwell and still not

  seen it. As it turned out, I was miles away.




  Cranwell is in Lincolnshire and at one stage I thought I saw the tall communication masts of Droitwich in Worcestershire. I thought, ‘Blimey! This is getting really worrying.’

  I’d reached a state bordering on panic. All I could do was fly back in what I hoped was the right direction. It was an awful feeling. Eventually I knew I had to land somewhere or my fuel

  would run out, so I selected a field. There were some wires there, but I managed to miss them. I managed an adequate landing, the field was quite smooth, and fortunately I didn’t do any

  damage to either me or the plane. I found a telephone box and rang up Cranwell, only to discover that I was actually quite near, not that it seemed to matter any more. One of the instructors came

  and fetched me back in a car. Someone else coaxed the plane into taking off from that field – but I was no longer there to witness it.




  No one was angry with me, so I could afford to smile about my little difficulty on that occasion. But a lot of trainee pilots died in accidents during the war. Not as many as pilots on real

  operations, but a high number all the same. Flying low over land, you could bump into things – telegraph wires and the like. Having begun night flying, I could see how one mistake could be

  fatal.




  I didn’t just fly Airspeed Oxfords at Cranwell; there were Ansons to master as well. I found it difficult to land an Anson because of its low stalling speed. Ansons always seemed

  determined to stay in the air for ever, clinging to flight until the last possible second, when all you wanted them to do was give up and touch down. But overall I felt I’d handled the

  challenges of learning to fly better than most, and I was becoming a good pilot. ‘Good’ wasn’t a word the RAF was keen to use in my case, though, and

  when I left Cranwell for the last time to go home that Christmas, one word apparently summed me up, and that word was still ‘average’. Overall assessment: ‘Average’. Pilot:

  ‘Average’. Navigator: ‘Average’.




  Instead of giving me the chance to improve as a pilot, at the beginning of 1941 the RAF decided to work on my navigating. ‘I’m a pilot, not a navigator,’ I thought. Sometimes I

  couldn’t help but think that the more training I did, the less relevant it was. This time just to reach the scene of that training involved great danger. It was the height of the Battle of

  the Atlantic, which was infested with German U-boats, and yet they wanted us to sail from Oban in Scotland to Canada, to go back to school. Many convoys were sunk trying to cross that same sea, and

  we could have been, too.




  Luckily we were able to run the gauntlet successfully, and I reached my new base – at a place called Charlottetown on Prince Edward Island – in one piece. Charlottetown is regarded

  as Canada’s birthplace. It’s where they first discussed the possibility of forming a confederation. I liked the town and surrounding countryside immediately. Situated off Canada’s

  east coast, not that far from Halifax, Prince Edward Island seemed at peace with itself and covered in natural beauty. ‘This scenery’s magnificent!’ I told locals

  enthusiastically. ‘You should be here in the spring!’ they replied. I was – and beyond – because the navigation course was so long.




  We plotted our courses on charts in our huts, then put those calculations into practice by climbing into planes and telling a pilot where to fly. What they continued to overlook was the fact

  that I wasn’t going to be a navigator when I went to war – I was going to be a pilot. And if my navigator got hit by flak and became incapacitated, do you

  think I’d have time to fly the plane and do complicated navigational calculations about ground speed and course? Of course not! You can’t work out velocities while you’re flying

  an aircraft. Therefore you can’t navigate while you’re flying. So what was the purpose of all this? We simply didn’t know. Back on the ground, we also practised Morse code with an

  Aldis lamp and on buzzers. I learned to receive six words a minute, each word being five letters. Again, this was a complete waste of time, a skill I never needed in the war, because I had a

  wireless operator to do the Morse code for me.




  Still, they must have had their reasons for teaching us all this stuff. And since we were there, we thought we might as well learn what we could, and enjoy Canada while we were at it. I remember

  lovely crisp mornings, when you’d go out in a big overcoat and still feel small against the enormity of Canadian nature. Along with some others, Mark Lee and I went out exploring our little

  part of the vast expanse that is Canada. We forged a strong bond of friendship out there. I enjoyed photography and took pictures of the beautiful landscape, the cloud-shrouded mountains, the

  snow-laden trees and frozen lakes.




  What a contrast we found when we returned exhausted to our barracks. Each room was very basic, with one bed against one wall and another against the wall opposite. I was sharing with a pilot

  called Norton, who was pleasant enough, though time could pass painfully slowly if you weren’t careful. Mark Lee was in another room with a pilot I remember only by his first name, Bill. This

  chap was always sketching with a pencil. Ask him about drawing technique and he’d talk about his ‘common sense’ method. Then he’d happily show you simple ways to achieve

  perspective.




  I was passionately fond of art but that didn’t mean I was any good at it – despite Bill’s best efforts to help me. And music would always remain my

  greatest passion. I suspect it was the same for Mark, which is probably why he was wearing such a broad grin when he popped his head round our door one day.




  ‘Come into our room, if you like,’ Mark said. ‘We’re putting something on.’




  ‘A sketching master-class from Bill?’ I asked.




  ‘No, I’ve got rather a lovely recording of Rimsky-Korsakov’s “Scheherazade”,’ Mark replied, and waited for our reaction. My face must have lit up as much as

  Norton’s.




  ‘We’ll be right there,’ we said simultaneously.




  I don’t know how Mark had got hold of the record, but I knew it was going to be special. The ‘Scheherazade’ was inspired by the Arabian Nights, and tells the story of a

  Sultan’s wife who tries to improve his mood with her colourful stories. You find the colour in the orchestration, and her spirit, in the melodies. We listened to this rare, tuneful treat in

  happy silence. ‘Scheherazade’ reminded us of the beauty human beings were capable of creating. I don’t see why anyone should be considered soft, just because they love music or

  art. Take me as proof that you can love music and art, go to war, do your bit, see terrible things, and still love music and art when you return . . . if you return.




  We didn’t know it yet, but we were going to be put in situations where you could be pretty sure you weren’t going to return at all. And on the other side of the

  Atlantic, the supreme demonstration of what might be required of us in war was about to take place in the port of Brest, in north-western France. Two German battlecruisers called the

  Scharnhorst and the Gneisenau had made Brest their base for forays into the Atlantic. Churchill was concerned that Britain’s war effort might

  crumble if we couldn’t protect our supply lines from America. He considered this struggle to be one of the most important of the war.




  Even before the Kriegsmarine’s formidable ships had been spotted at Brest, Churchill had warned gravely: ‘If the presence of enemy battle cruisers is confirmed then every effort by

  the navy and the air force should be made to destroy them and for this purpose serious risks and sacrifices should be made.’ At all costs, therefore, the Gneisenau and the

  Scharnhorst had to be disabled or destroyed before any more British ships were sunk.
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